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DWG:  Our guest today is Kelly McKeague.  The official title of the organization is, he’s the Defense POW-MIA Accounting Agency.  Mr. McKeague is a retired Air Force major general, 34 years.  He was a civil engineer for most of that time, but he had two tours with the POW-MIA organization including Commander of the Hawaii facility.  I believe this is the first time anyone from his agency has been to a Defense Writers Group.
On the record.  I’ll ask the first question and then we’ll go around the table for those who have indicated they want to ask a question.

We’ll start off with the 55 remains back from North Korea, the most recent one.  We’ve been told that you’ve identified two of them and have notified the families.  Are you able to release the names yet?

Mr. McKeague:  First of all, as you all recall, the 55 boxes, we don’t attribute to necessarily 55 individual remains.  The remains are commingled, and so we expect, as with the early 1990s, our turnover that North Korea had provided to the United States, to be more than 55 individuals.  The 208 boxes that were turned over in the ‘90s turned out to be over 400 separate individuals. 

So toward Otto’s question, we were able to identify two individuals from the 55 boxes, and the reason for that is the fact that in the 55 boxes were two partial skulls that had dental remains as well as two clavicles.  So immediately our anthropologists were able to match the teeth against the dental records that we had on file of the two individuals, as well as a technique of matching clavicles with the person’s x-ray that he took before he entered the military.

When that happened, we knew with two lines of evidence, that these two individuals were who we thought they were.  We then ran their DNA from the Armed Forces DNA Identification Laboratory in Dover.  The DNA confirmed it.  And the Army notified both families, one on Tuesday, one yesterday.
Unfortunately, we’re not at liberty to release the names because the White House wants to make the announcement and the reason they do is, tomorrow is National POW-MIA Recognition Day.  The President will issue a proclamation as he does always, every year, along with the fact that this afternoon, or this morning at 11 a.m., Vice President Pence will be presenting one of the flags that draped the 55 transfer cases to the Korean War Memorial Foundation at 11 a.m. at the Memorial.

Vice President Pence, as you all know, officiated at the repatriation ceremony Joint Base Pearl Harbor Hickam, and we had given him one of the flags that draped the 55 cases.  So he will be presenting that this morning.

We fully expect that the White House will either do it today as part of Vice President Pence’s -- 

DWG:  Do what?

Mr. McKeague:  Present, announce the two names.

DWG:  It might happen today.

Mr. McKeague:  It might happen today at the Korean War Memorial, or we envision it will be done tomorrow at the, as part of the National POW-MIA Recognition Day.

DWG:  I’m sure we’ll go back to the Koreans, but you’re also still working on a lot of World War II remains.  And making some progress on those recently, some identifications?

Mr. McKeague:  And Vietnam.

DWG:  And Vietnam. 

Mr. McKeague:  So with World War II, which is the predominant number of unaccounted for, over 72,000, Congress added it to our portfolio, the department’s portfolio in 2010.  So prior to 2010, if you were a farmer in Austria and found a crash site and called the Department of Defense, we would send a team to recover and then make the identification.

So in 2010, Congress said to the department, please do this proactively.  We’ve now added it.  So our challenge is to develop first the research, because that’s where it begins.  Our historians, our researchers, take this information and they try to narrow it down to a smaller area where we will then send field investigators.  They narrow it down further to a particular site.  That’s where we will send the anthropologists or archaeologists.

So we’re making great inroads with World War II.  Unfortunately, the other challenge with World War II is that we only have six percent of the mission have their family’s DNA on file with us, juxtaposed against Korea having 92 percent for the Korean War, and Vietnam having 87 percent.  So again, we’re building out our research, building out our operations for World War II, and obviously we continue to actively pursue Vietnam war accounting.

DWG:  Bob?

DWG:  Go back to the 55 for a minute, and then I have another question on that same topic.
You mentioned as you have before, that you expect the number of individuals represented in those 55 boxes will be more than 55.  Now that it’s been a number of weeks, can you give us at least kind of a ball park estimate?  Is it, as you suggested double?  Or is it more or less?

Mr. McKeague:  We don’t know yet.  So immediately on August 1st the remains were assessed into the laboratory.  The anthropologists then began the process of trying to biologically place them together.  But because they’re so disparate, in some boxes there were three bones, in other boxes there 18.  Really a mish-mash of bones.  

With all the bones they cut a DNA sample, because that’s the first, so they can’t articulate the bones.  If it were a full skull then they would be able to start piecing the femur with the tibia and what have you.  So lacking that articulation methodology, the only other recourse we have is to cut individual samples of bone.  All of those samples have been shipped to Dover and they are undergoing the meticulous DNA sequencing at which point then they will be able to segregate to say that this bone belongs to X individual; that bone to Y; and then start trying to articulate the bones.  
DWG:  I didn’t think you’d have a precise number but I was just wondering why, you know, a couple of times you’ve sort of suggested that it might be double.  Is that just --
Mr. McKeague:  Just based upon the 1990s return, 208 boxes that they thought were 208 individuals, turned out to be 400.

These exhibit characteristics like the early ‘90s.  so again, to clarify, these were not excavated last week, last year, or even two years ago.  They’ve been held on a shelf.  They’re starting to show signs of wear in terms of just decomposition, so it would be pure speculation.  But again, based upon the fact that 208 turned out to be 400, --

DWG:  Okay.  One other quick question.  You’ve also talked a little bit in the past about prospects for negotiations with North Korea on resuming Joint, what’s the term?

Mr. McKeague:  Joint Field Operations.

DWG:  Field Operations.  Right.  Have you started that yet?
Mr. McKeague:  We have.

DWG:  Could you explain more what you’ve done?

Mr. McKeague:  We were allowed by Secretary Pompeo to pursue active communications with the North Korean Army separate and distinct from denuclearization talks.  Immediately when we received that permission, we reached out through the DPRK’s UN mission in New York, Ambassador [Pak], as our conduit for communicating with the current People’s Army.  We have sent him two invitations, first of all acknowledging the fact that we would like to utilize him and the UN Mission as our conduit.  He agreed.  And then secondly, we offered to sit down with the North Koreans to review and negotiate a proposal for resuming field operations which could begin in the spring of 2019.
DWG:  When did this happen?

Mr. McKeague:  It happened three weeks ago.  And we’re hoping to sit down with him in late October in a neutral third-party country, at which point we will then begin negotiations which, by the way, were last conducted in 2011.  
DWG:  Is this going to include the South Koreans, by the way?

Mr. McKeague:  No.  The North Koreans were very explicit and said that they’re going to talk to the South Koreans bilaterally and they will talk to the United States bilaterally. 
You may have noticed yesterday in the military agreement that was signed as part of President Moon and Chairman Kim’s agreement, there’s an entry in there, besides the demilitarization aspects of the agreement, there’s an entry in there that the KPA and the ROK Army will conduct a joint recovery operation in the DMZ in the spring of ’19.
DWG:  They’ve never done that before, have they?

Mr. McKeague:  They have not.  So part of that will be a demining and a pathway from South Korea into this area that they would like to excavate, and that’s to begin in October of this year.

General Brooks and the United Nations Command would like and have offered to have a trilateral operation.  We’re all for that.  But our sensing is that the North Koreans will not want that.

DWG:  They’ve already said that?

Mr. McKeague:  They’ve said that in the past when it’s been broached from a notional standpoint, and when they made that agreement yesterday, we fully expect that, well, we fully expect that the United Nations Command will offer, would you like to have some United States participation in that.  We fully expect they’ll say no.  But again, that doesn’t mean that we will not be prevented from pursuing independent negotiations with North Korea to resume operations, bilateral.  And our intention, as was proven when we were there from 1996 through ’05, because that’s the two areas near the Chosun Reservoir, where we would like to go and that’s where the North Koreans have told us they would prefer us to operate with them.
DWG:  Thank you very much.

DWG:  Dmitry? 

DWG:  I want to switch subjects.  So if somebody else wants to keep doing that, please keep doing that.  

DWG:  Sir, I wanted to ask if you could speak broadly about the stable isotope analysis.  How much you’re dependent on it, and what other than corn and water can one learn about what makes someone an American [inaudible] bone fragment?
Mr. McKeague:  So stable isotope testing is a fairly emergent technology that we’re very excited about because it’s a more expedient, more economical means of testing than DNA.  And what stable isotopes are, it’s basically markers in your teeth, in your bones, from what you drank, what you ate as an infant, as an adolescent, even as an adult.

So the scientists have been able to, right now we don’t have organic capability inherent to the agency.  We have a scientist that we hired on staff.  She’s developing that capability, will start purchasing the equipment.
So we’re utilizing University of California Davis who is very prominent in terms of this testing.  And what stable isotope testing does, is it allows a scientist to be able to determine and pinpoint from a bone or a tooth the region that that individual grew up in, or even moved to.  A classic example is, it can actually differentiate an Asian from a European, a European from an American, and even on the Asian continent, it can differentiate someone that grew up in China versus South Korea.

So we’re particularly excited by the fact that we fully expect, just as was proven with the 208 boxes, that there are likely UN forces remains, potentially Chinese remain, and so stable isotope testing allows us to differentiate fairly immediately, it’s a very quick turn-around, and be able to segregate the bones for then deeper analysis and forensic reviews.
DWG:  And could you speak specifically about what it is about Americans’ diet and medical history that makes, uniquely about our, besides salt, I know.

Mr. McKeague:  Also water.

DWG:  So those are the two primary things?  Corn and --

Mr. McKeague:  Any kind of diet.  It --

DWG:  -- the American diet other than corn?

Mr. McKeague:  Just the water.

For instance, you can differentiate Kansas from California.  We actually found a, there’s a Vietnam case where the scientists had reached almost a dead end.  They knew, they thought it could be this individual but they weren’t definitively sure.  And so they ended up doing a stable isotope testing, and sure enough, the water, and I believe it was oxygen, the isotope that they used, the water actually pinpointed that Kansas had a marker.  So they knew it was the Mid, he grew up in the Midwest, and when the stable isotope was run, they found that he had grown up in Kansas.
DWG:  So just to clarify.  Corn is sort of American.  Water can actually get you within regions within the United States.  Right?

Mr. McKeague:  Correct.  And the difference between corn is, Americans have a high corn diet as opposed to Asians which have a high wheat or a high rice.  But it’s a compendium of the spectrum as to what the stable isotopes will point to.
DWG:  Rebecca?

DWG:  Getting back to the negotiations on recovering more remains from North Korea, in your two contacts with the UN Mission so far, did they give you any indication of what they want in return for allowing those expeditions to resume?

Mr. McKeague:  No.  First of all, they provided a proposal to the United Nations Command back in July.  We are currently evaluating that proposal and have been for the last six weeks, and we’re working with Treasury, obviously, because sanctions would be affected.  We’re working with the State Department, obviously DoD, and the National Security Council.

Once we are able to commit to a counter-proposal, that would be the basis of sitting down with the North Koreans.  What Ambassador [Pak], who is the number two at the UN Mission, what he’s indicated is that they are very interested in the resumption of field operations, to whit they want to sit down with us.  We’ve yet to be able to work out the details or we see any kind of confirmation from them as to when and where.
DWG:  You mentioned October 3rd.  That’s --

Mr. McKeague:  The last week of October is what we proposed to them.

DWG:  Oh, okay.  What was in the proposal they gave to you in July?

Mr. McKeague:  So we are allowed by statute to reimburse them for expenses incurred in the pursuit of remains recovery.  It’s no different than any other host nation foreign country that we work with.  So what this was was, literally, if I could summarize it, it was an updated version of the proposal that was agreed upon in 2011.  So the United States and the North Korean Army met in 2011 for the same purpose, of resuming field operations, which were last conducted in 2005.  We actually came to an agreement, signed the Memorandum of Understanding, were ready to execute, had actually purchased the supplies, the tenting systems, the vehicles for our teams, and were ready to ship and then they started testing nuclear weapons, started firing missiles, and so the White House made the decision that we were not going to pursue that operation in Spring of 2012 as had been planned.
So what we saw in July when they turned it over was that same agreement, updated for inflation.  For lack of a better term.

DWG:  More money.

DWG:  Dan?

DWG:  A follow-up and then a separate question, if I could.  Was the request, generally speaking, reasonable?  Or was it outrageous in terms of the kind of money --
Mr. McKeague:  For us it was not unexpected.  It was [out of sorts] and so obviously our counter-proposal will say that’s not reasonable.  To give an example, I think they had asked for ambulances.  Well, our teams don’t need ambulances if we have medics on station.  So that would be something we would push back and say it’s not possible.

DWG:  A related issue, when we looked at these [drug] recoveries in the past there’s been discussion of [inaudible], discussion of mines.  I recall a suggestion that kind of floated, we need to flood the area kind of thing.  Have you heard any of those sorts of things come up of late, and do you think it’s a safe mission at this time?
Mr. McKeague:  We do.  So for the ten years that we operated, our teams were never under threat.  The security presence was high.  The number of Korean People’s Army soldiers was extensive, but at no time was our team ever threatened, or even impacted at all.  In fact when 9/11 happened, we actually had teams in North Korea.  The huge discussion between Pacific Command and the NSC, what should we do with the teams, because as you know, we were sort of looking at the military’s posture worldwide, the collective decision was made that they were safer there than anywhere else.  So it was decided by the interagency that those teams would continue to remain operating in September 2011.

DWG:  They would be going in on the ground or is this likely to be a landing somewhere and then work --
Mr. McKeague:  Back in, between ’95 and ’05 it was a mix.  Teams would enter North Korea through the DMZ, from Panmunjom, and they were also flown into Pyongyang.  We fully expect it to be a hybrid of sorts depending upon time of year and what the North Koreans are open to.
We were surprised that if you all recall, the 55 boxes were repatriated in Wonsan international airport.  That’s something that threw the United Nations Command for a loop, because they fully expected, as in the past, the turnover to have happened at the DMZ.  The North Koreans said nope, they were very specific.  We want you to come to Wonsan.  It’s a brand new international airport, and that’s where they did the transfer.  So we were able to send four scientists up there.  They did the particular initial forensic review.  They were on the ground  four hours along with United Nations Command personnel, and then our scientists, as you may have heard in discussions, the North Koreans were very cordial.
It was interesting that they were very pointed in saying is this sufficient?  Did we do okay in how we packaged and boxed it?  Because in the ‘90s, it was just literally a mish-mash of bones.  There was still mud on them.  They were very in a degraded state.  This time they were very pristine, they were well taken care of.  And so our scientists complimented them on how they had taken care of the remains as they had.

DWG:  Can I just ask for a clarification on if I heard part of your answer correctly?  I think you said that elements of the North Korean offer was out of sorts.  Is that right?  What did you mean by that?
Mr. McKeague:  The fact that there were ambulances on their, that in the proposal they were saying that they expected the United States to provide eight ambulances.  

DWG:  Was that it?

Mr. McKeague:  No, there were other things.  The costs -- 

DWG:  I’m just wondering what you meant by out of sorts.  Does that mean it was unreasonable?  Is that what you’re saying?

Mr. McKeague:  Right.

DWG:  Okay.

Mr. McKeague:  In other words, all the equipment and reimbursements that we provide -- the tenting, the supplies -- are what our teams would need as well as providing them food for the teams, their teams, security.  Much like we do in any other country.  It was just unreasonable.  Some of the elements of the counter-proposal.

DWG:  Did that put a lock on the negotiations?  First of all, their proposal was out of sorts.  How confident you are that you reach an agreement that you don’t see, both positions seem to be like pretty [inaudible]?  How confident you are of reaching an agreement and then have another [threat]?
Mr. McKeague:  Very confident.  It wasn’t totally unreasonable.  There were just elements within it. 

We were able in three days in 2011 to come to an agreement.  Actually sign the agreement.  We fully expect them to be in that same mode.  In fact some of the same people that were part of that negotiation in 2011 were there in July when they first met with the United Nations Command.  So we fully expect to be able to reach suitable arrangements, compatible with both nations, and our objectives.

We fully believe they do want the resumption of remains.  They’ve said it publicly in the past.  They made overtures, if you all recall, to Governor Richardson and Secretary Principi back in 2007.  That was a unilateral turnover of six sets of remains, of which seven were identified.

So again, they’ve made overtures and in the meetings that the United Nations Command had in July, they said we’re ready.  In fact they were surprised when they gave them their first proposal, they fully expected the United Nations Command to be ready to discuss right then and there.  Unfortunately, that’s not their responsibility, it’s the Department of Defense’s, and so we had to take it under advisement and then say to them we’ll come back at a later date.
DWG:  My second question, going back to the security concerns, you are saying there are no security concerns, but I think that maybe going, trying to understand it, that you are confident that they will respect or honor any kind of agreement?  And they will be secure?  But on the other hand you have this administration which sometimes changes gears from one minute to another as we saw when Secretary Pompeo, he was going to travel to North Korea.  Then a few weeks ago, out of the blue, it was canceled by the White House.

There is no concern that that kind of behavior on the administration, on the White House, may eventually affect [these things]?

Mr. McKeague:  We always have known and have known in the ten years that we were there, that this was always tenuous.  It’s tenuous because of the North Koreans’ unpredictability.  It’s tenuous that it is, while considered humanitarian in nature, we knew the North Koreans were treating it as a quid pro quo.  And so while it’s always been tenuous and we fully expect it to remain tenuous, the fact that we’re able to sit down with them, the fact that we’re able to negotiate with them, in our view would portend at least to be a confidence-building measure, one that allows both sides to say we found a means of cooperation, we’re going to work together on that means of cooperation, and as a result of that maybe it leads to other confidence-building measures between the United States and North Korea.

DWG:  Jim?

DWG:  Thanks for doing this, General.

Where you want to go in Korea, the Chosun Reservoir area.  The 1st Marine Division, and I think the 7th Infantry Division, had graveyards before they retreated to the coast.  So they know exactly where those graveyards are.  Is that the area that you’re going at?  Are those the things that you’re going for?
Mr. McKeague:  No.  So we’re going to actually Unsan, is where we targeted, where we were working.  And then [Kujang].  A lot of those temporary cemeteries, I’m not sure which specifically there are, but a number of them were excavated under Operation Glory.  So shortly after the war, both sides retrieved and recovered their war dead and then there was an exchange of war dead between both sides.

So a number of Marines and Soldiers were recovered and then repatriated under Operation Glory.  We’re going to battle areas where our historians have determined that there are a number of losses still [in the field].
DWG:  Will your teams be doing the excavating or --

Mr. McKeague:  We will.

DWG:  The North Koreans aren’t going to be the ones --

Mr. McKeague:  They help, they provide labor, much like other host nations do.  Our teams normally for North Korea will be, will mirror what they are in other places in the world, so there will be about 15-20 individuals.  There will be an explosive ordnance disposal technician, there will be obviously an archeologist or anthropologist.  There will be a medic, communication specialists, linguists, as well as Soldiers, Sailors, Airmen and Marines.  So those 15 or 20 people would be augmented by Korean People’s Army soldiers that provide the labor for the excavation.
DWG:  Is there a number, is there how many people you think you might find?

Mr. McKeague:  There are 5300 still missing in North Korea.  So as proven in the mid ‘90s and early 2000’s, there were very successful remains recovery operations.  The environment, the lack of development, the weather, keep the remains in a better preservative state than say Southeast Asia where the acidity of the soil, urbanization, development, are literally taking away sites and/or disintegrating the remains.

DWG:  You mentioned that the 55 remains --

Mr. McKeague:  Boxes.

DWG:  Boxes, had been stored for some time.  There’s been reports that they have a significant number of remains in storage.  Any discussion as to turning over the ones that they already have?
Mr. McKeague:  In the past they have publicly said, mainly to Governor Richardson in dialogue with the North Koreans, that they have up to 200 sets of remains.

So when the United Nations Command met with them in July they said let’s talk about remains repatriation.  The North Koreans said great.  We want 55 boxes.  The United Nations Command said but might there be more?  Might there be 200?  They said no, we want 55 boxes.  We’re not sure where the 55 came up.  They have said in the past, again to Governor Richardson, that they have up to 200 sets of remains.  Again, we’re not sure why the 55 came up.  

DWG:  You said there’s been no discussion of additional stored remains?

Mr. McKeague:  The United Nations Command has reached out to them on two other occasions to discuss some other issues within the joint security area, the last one being I want to say three weeks ago.  Again, United Nations Command asked might there be additional repatriations and the North Koreans said no.

But then they were asking what about the proposal?  What are you doing about that?  And the United Nations Command said the Department of Defense is looking at it along with the rest of the United States government and we’ll be in touch with you.
DWG:  You really don’t know whether there are additional stored remains that could be easily turned over --

Mr. McKeague:  We don’t.

DWG:  -- do field operations.

Mr. McKeague:  Right.

DWG:  Richard?

DWG:  Sir, about [inaudible], you were talking about [inaudible] time line.  But you’re talking now about the possibilities of doing demining?
Mr. McKeague:  Not us.  The Republic of Korea.  

The agreement reached yesterday in Pyongyang by the Republic of Korea and the DPRK was a number of military aspects of an agreement. 

So President Moon and Chairman Kim had an overarching joint statement, much like Singapore, and separate to that, the Republic of Korea Minister of Defense and the Minister of Defense from the DPRK, came to an agreement on, I think there were eight conditions.  One of those eight conditions was a bilateral remains recovery operation between South Korea and North Korea, scheduled for the spring of ’19, inside the DMZ, at which prior to the ROK and DPRK will demine an area in and around the site that they would like to excavate, as well as construct a pathway, road, from South Korea through the DMZ into this area of the DMZ.  And that has nothing to do with the United States.

DWG:  But once it is clear, would the U.S. be joining [inaudible]?

Mr. McKeague:  We expect the United Nations Command, General Brooks, to offer a U.S. scientist to accompany the teams, under the premise that the likelihood of U.S. remains that they find will be high.  And so that’s General Brooks’ position.  We fully support it.  We are fully open to providing that scientist.

The good news is that of all the countries in the world that we work with, South Korea has probably the most capable, capacity and capability that mirrors ours.  They came to us 18 years ago, asked us to set up a similar operation.  They have a laboratory that does a lot of scientific exchanges with us, and it’s really, they have 300,000 that they’re looking for.  So we fully expect that even if a United States scientist were not part of that mission, that the South Koreans know and have found and turned over to us American remains that they find.

DWG:  But for a [DPAA], what you’re looking at, your best prospect is possibly in the spring, initial [inaudible] recoveries would be in the Unsan/Chosun area.  That’s where you’re looking.
Mr. McKeague:  That’s our objective.  The South Koreans, their primary objective was the DMZ.  There’s a battle area, and I’m not familiar, but there’s a hill inside the DMZ where there were a significant number of Republic of Korea losses, and that’s the focus that South Korea had when they broached this aspect with the North Koreans.

DWG:  General, you mentioned in the past the remains that the North Koreans had were dirty and now they were pristine.  Do we know what North Korea has done differently this time around?  Are they following the procedures?  What have they done differently?

Mr. McKeague:  I think it’s lessons learned.  So for ten years we saw, well, first of all, for five years from 1990 to ’94 they would turn over boxes of remains.  Over those five years, it ended up being 288 boxes.  But the largest individual, single return was only 33.  Over those five years, we saw an appreciable improvement.  Because again, we were learning, they were learning from us what we expected, what would work for us, and they were adjusting.
The reason why it stopped was because the United States said at the time, it’s obvious that you’re trying to do a good job.  You’re trying to excavate, you’re trying to recover.  Wouldn’t it be helpful if we did this together and you can learn from us?  And that’s how the 1996 first joint operation came about was they said okay, fine.

So over a year and a half there were negotiations and the first teams went in in 1995, in 1996, and over those ten years there was learning going on.  So they clearly, and the same people are involved because our folks saw them in 2011 and they saw some of them again in July, that there was learning going on.  So they’ve adjusted to their techniques.

DWG:  And those techniques are what?  Just kind of --

Mr. McKeague:  Just the way you excavate.  A lot of hand digging instead of huge excavators taking up earth to preserve the integrity of the skeleton and not having -- so that’s why there was such commingling in the past, because it was just this --

DWG:  What, they were using a bulldozer to get them or a backhoe or something like that?

Mr. McKeague:  Right.

DWG:  Wow.

DWG:  How many times have you spoken with the President about the North Korean missions?

Mr. McKeague:  Personally? 

DWG:  Yeah.

Mr. McKeague:  Once.

DWG:  And that was when?

Mr. McKeague:  That was the day of the White House press conference, August 30.  

DWG:  So in the entire North Korea mission you spoke with the President once, just to be clear.

Mr. McKeague:  On this mission?  Correct.  But we speak to his National Security staff.  Allison Hooker is his representative on the NSC.  Allison was there in Singapore.  Allison was very helpful along with the State Department and DoD representatives at Singapore to get this included as a commitment in the Joint Statement. 
So we’re in constant communication with Allison and her team at the White House.  They are currently and have been looking at the counter-proposal that we put together and providing us feedback and input and then helping us obviously with Treasury and State on the, overcoming whatever sanctions we may be bumping up against in this.

DWG:  Can you talk about the expenses.  You can reimburse them for supposedly reasonable expenses.  Where else would sanctions come in, be a factor in this?

Mr. McKeague:  For vehicles that we take into the country for our teams, the fuel for those vehicles, the food that would sustain our teams along with the assigned KPA folks.  Those are the things that under the strict terms of whether they be Security Council sanctions or U.S. sanctions, would be something we would have to seek an exemption from or a waiver to.

DWG:  The vehicles, for example, in the past you’ve given them to them.

Mr. McKeague:  We’ve left them behind because they had reached their life cycle use after ten years, and so we just, and we do that in other countries too.  We do that in Vietnam and Laos.  When we reach an end of life cycle, it’s prudent for us under humanitarian aid and assistance to just turn them over to the host nation.

Voice:  Sir, one clarification on Alex’s question.  The White House press conference was on the 14th of August.

DWG:  Dmitry?

DWG:  Sir, I was hoping you could speak a little about USRDC, U.S.-Russian Joint Commission on POWs and MIAs.  The DPAA supports this commission under one of its divisions as I understand.

Mr. McKeague:  Actively.

DWG:  In August there has been a new round of technical talks here.  A Russian delegation came over.  As far as I understand the holding [inaudible] was discussed and I think in November there was a plan to have a plenary here again in Washington.

So could you speak to that part of your work?  Is it really one of the bright spots right now in U.S.-Russian relations?  Because at least there it seems like there is some good interactions going on.  

And what kind of information you’re hoping to get from the Russians?  For instance, the Chief of the Russian Military Archives told me in August before he left Washington, that they gave you information on two U.S. pilots that perished over in Korea during these technical talks.

So what kind of information you are hoping to get from the Russians?  And are you willing to provide the Russians with the information that they seek?

Mr. McKeague:  The U.S.-Russia Joint Commission is 26 years old.  It was established by President Bush and President Yeltsin 26 years ago.  It allows, so it’s a Joint Commission, presidentially appointed that focuses on POW/MIA issues.
For a number of years it sort of languished on both sides, that there was not much activity going on.  But in the last four years, we have seen a tremendous uptick, a reinvigoration of the Commission to the point that the plenums, and there are annual plenums in November.  Last year we were in Moscow with the Russians.  This year we’re hosting them here in Washington.  They’ve become very productive.  And within the plenum, we’ve established a construct where we have four working groups dedicated to the Vietnam War, Korean War, Cold War and World War II.  And our specialists work with their counterparts and we interact.

Our main ask of the Russian is access to archives and archive open information, historical records.  To the point that they have given us, we have three contractors that are working for us.  These are archivists that have access to the Ministry of Defense archives, and it’s been a very successful bright spot, as you say, Dmitry in the relationship that despite a tension-filled relationship between the U.S. and Russia, the Russians are still communicating with us.  We have open lines of activity, open channels of communication, and the Korean War technical talks that you refer to were just held in August, and again, very successful.

One thing that came out of the Cold War talks last year was a joint investigation, and that was completed in May in Vladivostok.  It was hosted by the Russian Army, augmented by Russian soldiers, and our team, our ten-person team went there and they were investigating three, four Cold War cases.  Very successful.  One of which proved to be, it was an isolated burial site.  Proved to be successful from the standpoint we saw anomalies when we worked in that area, and we will be sending a recovery team I believe next spring to excavate that particular site.
But it’s a very healthy relationship.  We’re proud of our association with the Russian side.  Retired Air Force General Foglesong is the Commissioner, Chairman of the Commission.  And then General [Vostrokin] is a hero of the Soviet Army from Afghanistan.  He is the Russian side chairman.

We ask of the Russians information from all four conflicts.  What the Russians ask from us is access to our archives for World War II.  So they have a five-person team here at the embassy, and they work in the National Archives in Suitland, and they access German war trophy records that again allow them to be able to find information to help them locate their missing.  And then they’ve asked us for information in the past on losses in Georgia as well as losses in Afghanistan.

They have about 300 missing in Afghanistan, so again, we’ve provided them access to archives and the like.  It’s a very successful relationship.

DWG:  And that site that you mentioned, is it near Vladivostok?

Mr. McKeague:  It’s outside.  I believe it’s 40 kilometers outside of Vladivostok.  
DWG:  Would period is that?
Mr. McKeague:  Cold War.  

DWG:  Is it U.S. Air Force?  

Mr. McKeague:  I believe one is Navy and one is Air Force.

DWG:  And one unrelated to this, the teams that you used to have in North Korea and are hoping to have again, are they armed?

Mr. McKeague:  No.

DWG:  Do they carry weapons?  Okay.

Mr. McKeague:  Nowhere in the world, since ours is a humanitarian mission, our teams deploy not in uniform and without weapons.

DWG:  Thank you.

DWG:  I want to ask about, you mentioned the DNA repository.  You have I guess 92 percent for Korea, 80-somewhat for Vietnam.  Are you [inaudible] the relatives of those from, missing from World War II?

Mr. McKeague:  We are.

DWG:  Is that something you’re still actively trying to get?

Mr. McKeague:  Right.  I mentioned that World War II was added to the department’s responsibility in 2010.  So obviously to ask 72,000 families for DNA is a steep hill to climb.  So what we are doing with World War II is we will target battle areas, countries, loss areas.  I’ll give you an example.

Tarawa, the Battle of Tarawa, there are 400 Marines that still remain missing on Tarawa from that battle.  So we focused on that battle in terms of developing the history, and the Marine Corps, to their credit, has secured in 93 percent of the DNA from families of the Tarawa missing.  

So again, whether it’s a European battlefield, whether it’s a particular grave site or whatever, we’re targeting and focusing our efforts on that particular battle was we ask for family reference samples.

DWG:  Do you have like a web site that people can go to if they have their, now I guess grandfather or grandmother who would be missing.

Mr. McKeague:  Right.  It’s www.DPAA.MIL.  And there’s information there on --

DWG:  A family member can approach and maybe give a swab or something.

Mr. McKeague:  Right.  And then annually we have seven regional family member updates that we host around the country.  We just had one in Philadelphia two weeks ago.  We invite families from a 350-mile radius to these regional updates as well as two annual meetings here in Washington for the Korean War and Vietnam War.  And at those meetings, when we send them the letters saying we are having this gathering, oftentimes we’re getting first-time family members and they will offer their DNA at those points.

DWG:  You are saying that it’s very difficult to gather DNA from [inaudible] families from the World War.  Has the agency [inaudible] agreement with [inaudible] DNA test companies that are so popular nowadays?  And police are working then some cases, maybe that would be a way of finding people that maybe are not even aware that they may have --
Mr. McKeague:  Sure.  We don’t do the DNA at all, so family reference samples are collected, first of all, by the services that the service member belongs to, and then DNA is worked out of the DNA laboratory in Dover.

They are in contact and have collaboration with 23 and Me and the others, so they’re looking for ways to then collaborate in a way that allows them to bridge that divide.

DWG:  You said that the South Koreans are looking for 300,000 from the Korean War strictly?

Mr. McKeague:  Strictly.

DWG:  Why so many for, it seems like a very high number.

Mr. McKeague:  I think primarily, first and foremost, they were the number one contributing nation to the UN force.  So the numbers of soldiers that they, and marines, that they had provided for the war were extensive.  I think those losses are the ones that they bore the brunt of the fighting force.

DWG:  You mentioned on the [inaudible] analysis that it’s pretty recent technology.  When did DPAA start utilizing it?
Mr. McKeague:  We started utilizing it two years ago.  Three years ago.  And have built it out.  We just hired, earlier this year, one of the most preeminent isotope scientists in the world.  She’s now on staff for us.  She’s, again, developing this organic capability.

DWG:  And how long has the technology been around?

Mr. McKeague:  Eight years, maybe ten years.

DWG:  And you mentioned University of California, Davis, is that for Isotope technology strictly whereas Dover’s for DNA?

Mr. McKeague:  Correct.  And part of the challenge with stable isotope testing is to map, create an isotopic map that literally can develop where does oxygen from water, you know, what does that signature look like in say Kansas versus California versus Asia.

So part of Davis’ and other universities as well as organizations, is that isotopic mapping.  Again, until you can test water and determine that its particular signature for oxygen, carbon or nitrogen is this, then you’ll never be able to say that that person drinking water from Kansas matches that signature.

DWG:  And the last thing you mentioned, they had [inaudible] these remains quite a while.  Do you know when these remains were unearthed?  How long they sat on the shelf?

Mr. McKeague:  When we were looking at the remains unilaterally turned over in the ‘90s as well as the remains that we were working with on excavating, we determined that they came out anywhere from the ‘50s, ‘60s, ‘70s, I mean literally, and I’m sure the North Koreans realized that this is something that might be useful in the future, might be important to the United States.  This is after Operation Glory.
So when they were turning over remains under the terms of the armistice, just like the United Nations did, it was just a matter of these remains weren’t found after that Operation Glory stopped.  So now what do we do with them?  So I think as they built a building, developed a road, found remains that had U.S. markings, they would excavate and then store them and that’s what we saw in the ‘90s.

DWG:  And again with the 55.

Mr. McKeague:  And again with the 55.

DWG:  So these could have been unearthed 50 --

Mr. McKeague:  Decades ago.

DWG:  Is there any work with the Chinese, because some of our POWs in Korea ended up in China, and died there.  We never got any repatriation, live or remains from China after the Korean [inaudible].  Has there been any negotiation at all with China on trying to resolve that issue?

Mr. McKeague:  We do.  So China we have an active relationship with.  We work not only through the Ministry of Foreign Affairs in China but also the PLA Archives.  

China is actually unique, in that’s the only country where we have losses in China proper from all four conflicts.  World War II, Korea, Cold War, and Vietnam.  In China.

The Chinese cooperate and are increasingly doing so, to the point that they are actually unilaterally looking when we ask them.

Obviously there are some sensitive areas that China’s not giving us access to in terms of archives.  However, when we give them a list of cases we would like them to work, they have been responsive.  They’re coming, I believe, in November.  They’re sending a delegation to sign an MOU, Memorandum of Understanding with us.  They’ll go out to Hawaii to conduct a scientific exchange.

There’s an appetite in China, again, to help the United States on this humanitarian mission, because like Russia, they’ve recognized it as a separate humanitarian endeavor and one that they see as a means of diplomacy.

DWG:  Does this potentially become a problem as it proceeds, with the emphasis on Korea?  Isn’t DPAA’s mandate that Vietnam comes first?

Mr. McKeague:  No.  But it’s our department’s position, and DPAA’s priority that we’ve made Southeast Asia accounting our number one priority.  The reason for that is because of the acidic soil in Vietnam, the development and urbanization in Southeast Asia that sites are being threatened, sites are being literally eliminated.  I’ll give an example.  

We heard about a dam being built in Laos that would create a reservoir that three sites would have been affected by that reservoir, putting them under water, and never to be accessed again.  So we worked with the Lao government and we sent teams to investigate and excavate those sites.

So from our standpoint, our priority because of compelling reasons, both environmentally as well as development, is why Vietnam is our number one.

But we balance our efforts, both investigations and excavations worldwide.  Assuming, so World War II we have teams in Europe today, teams in the South Pacific, India, Burma.  Should Korea come about we fully expect to be able to incorporate that capacity and capability within our construct.
One thing that’s helping us particularly in World War II is public/private partnerships.  Congress gave us this authority in 2015 when they stood up the agency.  And we’re able to establish relationships with universities, NGOs, that have capacity and capability and we’re literally putting them to work in a very economical, effective way. 

A classic example, you may have heard about, in fact I think you guys covered it, the finding of the first Tuskegee Airman, Captain Lawrence Dixon.  There are 27 Tuskegee Airmen that are unaccounted for from World War II.  We found the first one, Captain Dixon.  It was found by a consortium between the University of Innsbruck, the University of New Orleans, and the World War II Museum.  There was a field school where doctoral candidates, anthropologists as well as graduate students, along with two professors excavated a site.  Our historians had found it and then we had arranged this public/private partnership.  It cost the department $8,000.  All we had to pay for was the per diem, lodging, transportation of the two professors.  The students paid for the opportunity to work the site, develop real world skills in anthropology, and more importantly, the World War II museum ended up providing stipends to these students.  

So again, capacity wise, it’s something that we’re harnessing, particularly where we have permissive environments like Europe, South Pacific, and we’re utilizing these NGOs and universities to help us in this effort.
DWG:  How many U.S. missing in China?

Mr. McKeague:  A couple of thousand I think.

Voice:  We’ll take that one for action.  Actual in China.

DWG:  Yeah.  And could you bust it down by war, too?

Mr. McKeague:  Yeah.

DWG:  There’s a private organization that did some of the remains in Tarawa,

Mr. McKeague:  It’s an organization called History Flight out of Florida.  They’re a nonprofit.  They do great work.  They have on staff a number of anthropologists and archaeologists that are alumni from DPAA.  They are so successful in Tarawa that we’ve literally given them, that entire operation that they do year-round.  You may have recalled in 2015 History Flight found Cemetery 33.  So after the Battle of Tarawa the Marines would bury in temporary cemeteries their losses, and as the Navy kept moving westward, they would, they came to Tarawa, started building runways, started moving cemeteries.  In the chaos they weren’t marked, they were lost for decades.  History Flight found Cemetery 33.  They find the first grave, fully preserved skeleton, Marine uniform, dog tag, name tag.  Turned out to be Cemetery 33 by the records that our historians had provided.  They end up digging, and they find in a row, so close together that our hands are touching the Marine next to them, they end up finding 35 Marines.  All in a trench burial.  One of those Marines was a Congressional Medal of Honor recipient, Lieutenant Alexander Bonnyman.  So it was a huge, the Marines brought in three C-130s, had a repatriation ceremony in Hawaii.  Thirty-five caskets draped with U.S. flag.  

So History Flight is a very competent NGO that we utilize year-round in Tarawa.  They’re there today operating in Tarawa.
The 75th Anniversary of the end of the Battle of Tarawa is this November.  I believe a number of both Japanese and U.S. officials will be there in [Kiribash] to honor that and commemorate that date.
DWG:  Are you continuing to do the excavations in Hawaii --  

Mr. McKeague:  In the Punch Bowl there?

DWG:  -- the cemetery there?

Mr. McKeague:  We are.  There are 8300 unknowns buried in a cemetery controlled by the U.S.  Either a VA cemetery or [inaudible] Battle Monuments Commission in Europe or the Philippines.  In Punch Bowl there are Korean War unknowns, 652 of them, as well as World War II unknowns.  I believe 2000 or so. 

We have an active program to disinter, but the onus is on us and DPAA because it’s a sacred grave.  Buried as an unknown because back in the war, after the war, the department could not obviously identify the individual.  So if we can prove that we’ve developed an historical research, we have a biological profile based upon the bones accounting.  So each unknown has a chart that details the bones that are buried in there.  If we can present that, and we do almost on a daily basis, to the department and we’re allowed to disinter, VA and ABMC allow us to do that.
So we have an active disinterment program.  We have a seven-year project to disinter all 652 remains from the Punch Bowl from Korea, and we’ll do that, we’re actually in phase one now and we’ll continue to do that over the next six years.

What’s important about disinterments, particularly in Tarawa’s case, is there were 94 unknowns in Punch Bowl from Tarawa.  What we were finding when we, we had to disinter all 94 and we did that.  What we were finding is that what History Flight was excavating in the field, and this is a classic case, was a partial jaw.  What we disinterred from one of the 94 unknown graves, was the other side of the jaw.  

So again, the complexity of, and the confusion from the burials created such chaos that as Army Graves Registration Service was taking up the remains, trying to identify them, couldn’t, little did they know that part of that individual was left behind in the battlefield.

So the reason for disinterring all 94 is we have ongoing field excavations and we just needed to match and have everything in what we call the Tarawa Project to look at everything coming off of Tarawa along with the 94 that are in the laboratory and we’re finding articulation from both sets. 

It was interesting, that jaw I told you about, partial of it is bleached white and the other side was orange, sort of dark.  That’s the one that came out of the disinterred, and the white one, the bleached one, had been obviously in the sane and exposed to the elements.

DWG:  Are you going to do the same sort of thing for the other island campaigns?  Peleliu, Iwo Jima, Okinawa?
Mr. McKeague:  Eventually.

DWG:  Could you do that?

Mr. McKeague:  Right now our two projects are Tarawa and Buna.  Buna was in Papua New Guinea.  And so those were what we had targeted and focused our efforts on.  And then we’ll do similarly for the Solomons, Palau, and everywhere else.  Saipan.

DWG:  That’s got to be thousands.

Mr. McKeague:  It is.

DWG:  Many in World War II we lost at sea that we’ll never recover.

Mr. McKeague:  Right.  So of the 82,000 that are currently unaccounted for, we estimate 34,000 are recoverable.  Meaning the remainder are deep water, at sea losses.  And our limit right now with current technology is 150 feet.  Anything beyond that is outside of our realm.  But as you might have heard, there was an underwater submersible in Reno that recovered a current day death from a thousand feet, an individual that went missing I believe early September, and this submersible, remotely controlled submersible, ended up bringing back that individual that was lost at Lake Tahoe.

The Navy has this element called, they call it Saturated Dive.  I forget the name.  I’ll think of it here in a minute.  Anyway, it’s a gas mix that allows Navy divers to reach 1,000-foot depths.  In fact we’re working with the Navy on a particular B-24 loss in Papua New Guinea, about 200 feet of water.  A private consortium found it out of Scripts University called Project Recover earlier this year.   We’ll send the Navy this fall to validate the finding that it is Heaven Can Wait, and then with this Navy dive team, we’ll send them back next summer to dive the site and recover the six individuals from that World War II loss.  But again, that’s at 200 feet and only because of this special breathing apparatus that they’re able to literally do that more efficiently.  To the point where they can actually stay down for hours on end,.
Right now, even 125 feet, they can only be on the bottom for short periods of time, come up, go back down.  With this mixed gas, and I can’t think of the name, they’re able to stay underwater for four hours at a time.

DWG:  It’s after 9 o’clock.  Any closing comments or --

Mr. McKeague:  I appreciate the interest that you all have shown.  More importantly, I appreciate the coverage that you have shown.

You’ve heard me say this before, some of you, that we think that this is reflective of the values of our country.  That we sent these men and women off to war, they didn’t return, they cannot be forgotten . So it’s a sacred obligation that we look at, almost a moral imperative that the United States, decades later, continues to search for, find, repatriate and turn over to their families their loved ones.  And when you think of these families who we’ll honor tomorrow with POW/MIA Recognition Day.  They’re Gold Star families, no different than a family whose loved one was lost in Afghanistan last month.  What makes them different is that there’s an uncertainty associated with the loss.  So not only is there the unfathomable loss that transcends decades and generations, but there’s also that uncertainty.
So what we do as a department, as a nation, is provide those families those long-sought answers by which they can at least achieve some solace.  We’ll never be able to replace the fact that their loved one is lost, but at least by knowing that they’re now back home with them, it provides a great sense of solace.

And that’s why for us, I’ve never been associated with more talented, dedicated, passionate people.  They come from all stripes.  I mean we have PhD historians, PhD anthropologists, we have logisticians, we have researchers, military and civilian.  Really an incredible mission and one that we’re very privileged to do on behalf of the nation.

Thanks very  much.

DWG:  Thank you.

Voice:  I’ve got a couple of admin notes about upcoming coverage if you guys are interested.  

There will be a ceremony tomorrow at the Pentagon and the Secretary of Defense will be the keynote speaker.

In addition to that, we’ll have a ceremony before the Washington Nationals game, if anybody’s going to the ball game tomorrow, please come early.  We’ll have three families there that will be honored as part of POW/MIA Recognition Day.

And we have some people making speeches in the area around here. 

Moving forward, we have some exciting stories coming up.  We are about to hit the 200th identification from the USS Oklahoma project.  There are roughly 388 individuals lost from the USS Oklahoma that we’re trying to identify.  So we’re reaching that milestone.

We’ve got a group burial next week, the 27th, at Arlington of a helicopter crew from Vietnam.  If you’re interested in covering that, let me know. 

Also on the 27th, you may hear some news that we’re going to turn over 64 sets of remains of South Koreans that we’ve identified, in a ceremony in Hawaii.
A little bit further down the road, Jim, you mentioned, and I meant to jump in on that, family member updates.  Our next one is in Greensboro, North Carolina in November.  You are all welcome to come down and see for yourself what that’s all about.

So just stay in touch with us.

Mr. McKeague:  If I could talk real quick, thanks Chuck for that.

So the 64 that we will repatriate to South Korea next Wednesday, those are from the turnover of the 208 boxes from the ‘90s, as well as the joint operations between ’96 and ’05.  Because of stable isotope testing, because of DNA, we were able to isolate those 64.  The South Koreans sent scientists last month.  They validated and verified that they are of South Korean origin.  They’ll take them back next Wednesday.  President Moon will have a big, big repatriation ceremony in Seoul, I believe October 1st, their Armed Forces Day.  And it’s a big deal for the South Koreans.

But again, because of that collaboration --

DWG:  Not identified by name, just South Korean.

Mr. McKeague:  No.  Just South Koreans.  But South Korea has, they’re expanding their DNA family reference sample.  Not quite to the order that we have, but they’ve been able to identify a handful of South Korean soldiers that either we’ve turned over to them or they’ve found.

So it’s a really big event, and one that again, speaks to the close collaboration between our two nations.

Thanks again.
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